

Annual Review of Plant Biology New Horizons in Plant Photoperiodism

Joshua M. Gendron¹ and Dorothee Staiger²

¹Department of Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut, USA; email: joshua.gendron@yale.edu

²RNA Biology and Molecular Physiology, Faculty of Biology, Bielefeld University, Bielefeld, Germany; email: dorothee.staiger@uni-bielefeld.de

Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 2023. 74:481-509

First published as a Review in Advance on February 28, 2023

The Annual Review of Plant Biology is online at plant.annualreviews.org

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-070522-055628

Copyright © 2023 by the author(s). This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. See credit lines of images or other third-party material in this article for license information.

ANNUAL CONNECT

www.annualreviews.org

- Download figures
- Navigate cited references
- Keyword search
- Explore related articles
- Share via email or social media

Keywords

photoperiod, external coincidence, metabolic daylength measurement system, noncanonical photoperiod measurement, photosynthetic photoperiod

Abstract

Photoperiod-measuring mechanisms allow organisms to anticipate seasonal changes to align reproduction and growth with appropriate times of the year. This review provides historical and modern context to studies of plant photoperiodism. We describe how studies of photoperiodic flowering in plants led to the first theoretical models of photoperiod-measuring mechanisms in any organism. We discuss how more recent molecular genetic studies in Arabidopsis and rice have revisited these concepts. We then discuss how photoperiod transcriptomics provides new lessons about photoperiodic gene regulatory networks and the discovery of noncanonical photoperiodmeasuring systems housed in metabolic networks of plants. This leads to an examination of nonflowering developmental processes controlled by photoperiod, including metabolism and growth. Finally, we highlight the importance of understanding photoperiodism in the context of climate change, delving into the rapid latitudinal migration of plant species and the potential role of photoperiod-measuring systems in generating photic barriers during migration.

Contents

1.	. INTRODUCTION					
	1.1.	The Road to Photoperiodic Flowering	483			
	1.2.	The Conceptual Model of the Circadian Clock in Arabidopsis thaliana	483			
	1.3.	Hourglass Timers in Photoperiod Measurement	485			
2.	TH	E MOLECULAR BASIS OF PHOTOPERIODIC FLOWERING	485			
	2.1. Long-Day Plants					
	2.2.	Short-Day Plants	487			
3.	PHC	OTOPERIODIC TRANSCRIPTOMES	488			
	3.1.	Gene Expression Changes During Photoperiodic Flowering				
		in Arabidopsis	488			
	3.2.	General Photoperiodic Gene Expression Changes in Arabidopsis	489			
	3.3.	Photoperiodic Gene Expression Beyond Arabidopsis thaliana	490			
	3.4.	Data Mining Transcriptomes for Mechanisms of Photoperiod-Regulated				
		Gene Expression	490			
4.	NO	NCANONICAL PHOTOPERIOD-MEASURING SYSTEMS	492			
	4.1.	The Metabolic Daylength Measurement System	492			
	4.2.	The PIF Coincidence Mechanism	493			
	4.3.	Phase Shifting of the Circadian Clock–Controlled Genes				
		and Other Transcriptional Responses to Photoperiod	495			
5.	PHC	OTOPERIODIC CONTROL OF DEVELOPMENT	495			
	5.1.	Germination	495			
	5.2.	Metabolism	495			
	5.3.	Growth Linked to Metabolism	497			
	5.4.	CONSTANS-Dependent Growth Processes	498			
	5.5.	Senescence	499			
6.	6. CLIMATE CHANGE AND PHOTIC BARRIERS					
TO LATITUDINAL MIGRATION						
7.	CON	NCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK	500			

1. INTRODUCTION

The length of daily light phase, the photoperiod, changes in the course of the year due to Earth's rotation and axial tilt. Plants rely on this predictable variation to optimize their life with seasonal progression. Although phenomena such as seasonal reproduction in animals or seasonal disorders in humans have long been known, progress in research on photoperiod has been largely driven by studies in plants (45, 71, 134). One century ago, Garner & Allard (40) reported on their landmark study in Maryland Mammoth tobacco, which does not flower in summertime unless exposed to extended darkness in the second half of the day. They coined the term photoperiodism for this dependence on the relative duration of day and night.

As our mechanistic understanding of seasonally controlled processes has largely been based on photoperiodic flowering (see Section 1.1), we have far less understanding of photoperiodmeasuring mechanisms controlling nonflowering processes, especially growth. Recently, a boom in transcriptomics has provided insights into the cellular processes that are under the control of photoperiod but has also led to the discovery of noncanonical photoperiod-measuring mechanisms. Importantly, one of these mechanisms, the metabolic daylength measurement system,

Photoperiod:

duration of the light phase within a day

Photoperiodism: use

of daylength sensing to adjust molecular, biochemical, and physiological processes to the course of the seasons



Model for photoperiod measurement. In the course of a 24-h day (*rectangular box*), organisms are sequentially exposed to two states, as indicated by the dashed line. In the first part of the day, the organism is in a photophilic, or light-expectant, state. In the second part of the day, the organism is in a skotophilic, or dark-expectant, state. A 24-h timer, either circadian or hourglass, determines the phasing of the light-expectant and dark-expectant states. Daylight is shown in yellow, and darkness in blue. Daylight extending into the dark-expectant state indicates long-day conditions, inducing flowering in long-day plants and repressing flowering in short-day plants.

measures the duration of the day as a function of photosynthetic activity, termed a photosynthetic period, an idea that was proposed nearly forty years ago (19). In addition, plants have mechanisms to measure photoperiod to control hypocotyl elongation and alter the phase of the circadian clock, suggesting that there are a host of photoperiod measurement systems and responses to photoperiod outside of the well-studied photoperiodic flowering system. Because climate change is causing rapid disjunction between daylength and other seasonal signals, such as water availability and temperature, understanding photoperiod measurement systems in plants is paramount to engineering climate-robust crops.

1.1. The Road to Photoperiodic Flowering

Photoperiodic timekeepers measure daylength irrespective of light intensity. In the premolecular era, studies of photoperiodic flowering were foundational for the development of theoretical models describing how an organism could count the hours of light and dark. The German botanist Erwin Bünning (14) was the first to implicate an endogenous rhythm of alternating light-expectant (photophile) and dark-expectant (skotophile) phases in photoperiodic timekeeping (**Figure 1**). In this model, when daylength is long enough that environmental light surpasses the light-expectant phase and encroaches in the dark-expectant phase, the plant detects that light as a long day (LD). When daylength is short enough that environmental light avoids the dark-expectant phase, the plant detects this as a short day (SD). Once the daylength is measured, the appropriate response is triggered. Bünning's concept was later refined by Pittendrigh (109) in the external coincidence model of an endogenous rhythm that needs to productively interact with light to trigger the photoperiodic response. Alternatively, in the internal coincidence model, the photoperiodic response results from the interaction of at least two endogenous regulators with their rhythms falling into phase. Light, in this case, has only one function: to synchronize the phases of these rhythms (109).

These models rely on an internal biological timer that parses the light-expectant and dark-expectant phases to the appropriate times of the 24-h day. Bünning (14) was convinced that the light- and dark-expectant phases were generated by a genetically encoded oscillatory clock, but hourglass timers based on unidirectional processes were subsequently shown to also act in photoperiodic measurement systems in plants and animals (103, 113) (**Figure 2**; see also Section 1.3).

1.2. The Conceptual Model of the Circadian Clock in Arabidopsis thaliana

To date, the presence of an oscillatory clock as postulated by Bünning and Pittendrigh (14, 108, 109) has empirical support in most organisms. This biological clock generates endogenous

Photosynthetic period: photoperiod that begins when light intensity rises above the compensation point and ends when light intensity drops below the compensation point



Three components are required for photoperiod measurement: (*a*) a timer (*pink rectangle*), either a circadian clock or hourglass, that sets the light-expectant and dark-expectant phases; (*b*) a sensor (*blue rectangle*) that can distinguish between light and dark (in plants, this can be a photoreceptor or the photosynthetic apparatus); and (*c*) a photoperiod-measuring process (*purple arrow*), whose phasing is set by the timer (establishing light-expectant and dark-expectant states), that functions differently in light and dark. This process then controls physiology and gene expression differentially in short days and long days (*rounded purple rectangle*).

rhythms with a period of about 24 h, hence designated the circadian clock (from circa diem, meaning about one day). The cellular clockwork consists of proteins that are expressed in a temporal series throughout the day and generate their own 24-h rhythm via negative feedback (46). In vascular plants, the blueprint of the clockwork has been resolved in the model plant Arabidopsis thaliana. Briefly, the core clock feedback loop involves the morning-expressed transcription factors CIR-CADIAN CLOCK ASSOCIATED1 (CCA1) and LATE ELONGATED HYPOCOTYL (LHY) that repress the evening-expressed TIMING OF CAB EXPRESSION1 (TOC1) (2, 122, 146). Additionally, CCA1 and LHY repress EARLY FLOWERING3 (ELF3), ELF4, and LUX ARRHYTHMO (LUX), which form the evening complex (EC), as well as GIGANTEA (GI). PSEUDO-RESPONSE REGULATOR9 (PRR9), PRR7, and PRR5 sequentially accumulate throughout the day and repress CCA1 and LHY. The EC indirectly derepresses CCA1 and LHY by downregulation of PRR7, PRR9, and GI, allowing the cycle to start again the next day (85). In addition to this transcriptional control, the clock components are regulated at the posttranscriptional and posttranslational levels to feed environmental information into the clock (52, 128, 153). In other plant species, the clockwork essentially comprises orthologous components with distinct variations (62, 129, 139).

The rhythmically expressed clock proteins in turn cause large parts of the transcriptome to oscillate within a 24-h period and regulate physiological processes, the so-called clock output (see Section 3) (47, 90). In turn, light input to the clock is the prevalent cue synchronizing the circadian clockwork to the day-night cycle in a process known as entrainment (32, 109). Plants rely on multiple photoreceptors to monitor changes in light quality, quantity, and duration. *Arabidopsis* has five phytochromes, among which PhyA detects very-low-fluence red and high-intensity farred light and PhyB detects red light. Cryptochrome 1 (Cry1) and Cry2 perceive blue light, and both phytochromes and cryptochromes convey light input to the clock (91). Furthermore, the light-oxygen-voltage domain E3-ubiquitin ligase proteins ZEITLUPE and FLAVIN-BINDING KELCH REPEAT F-BOX1 (FKF1) mediate blue light input (126). In addition to setting the photoperiodic response rhythms through clock entrainment, photoreceptors directly report on ambient light to distinguish SDs from LDs (see Section 2.1).

Phytochrome:

a photoreceptor occurring in two states: the inactive Pr form and the active Pfr form

1.3. Hourglass Timers in Photoperiod Measurement

Although most plants studied to date use the circadian clock for photoperiodic flowering, there is evidence that some plants use hourglass timers, and keeping this in mind when studying new photoperiod measurement systems is important (**Figure 2**). In the hourglass model, the length of either day or night is measured by the accumulation of a hypothetical substrate over time, which does not require entrainment, resetting immediately in response to any new dawn or dusk. The process functions for the required amount of time, for instance, 12 h, and then reverts back to the starting point (113). Examples for hourglass timers include the phytochrome photoreceptors. Upon absorption of red light, the inactive Pr (red light–absorbing) form is converted to the active Pfr (far-red light–absorbing) form. In addition to the reversion of Pfr to Pr by absorption of far-red light, active Pfr slowly reverts to inactive Pr in the absence of light, a process known as dark reversion, and serves as an hourglass timer. In SD plants, Pfr would repress flowering, and measurement of the dark phase would begin at dusk, leading to derepression of flowering after a critical duration of darkness when sufficient Pfr has reverted back to Pr (134).

To distinguish between hourglass and circadian clock timers, daylength is kept constant and the dark period is systematically lengthened to provide cycles longer than 24 h in the so-called Nanda-Hamner protocol (97). If the process is controlled by a circadian mechanism, the photoperiodic response would only be triggered in a photoperiod that is a multiple of 24 h [i.e., 12 h light:12 h darkness (12L:12D) or 12L:36D] and not in non-24-h cycles (i.e., 12L:16D or 12L:30D). Such experiments showed that in many, but not all, plant species, photoperiodic flowering is under the control of the circadian clock (134). Importantly, either timer is sufficient to differentially interpret LDs and SDs.

2. THE MOLECULAR BASIS OF PHOTOPERIODIC FLOWERING

2.1. Long-Day Plants

The molecular details of photoperiodic flower induction are best understood in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, a facultative long-day plant found across the northern hemisphere that flowers steadily earlier when days get longer in spring and summer to finish seed production before the onset of the cold season. The key evidence for the endogenous rhythm of photoperiodic sensitivity proposed by Bünning came from the characterization of *constans* (*co*) mutants that flower late in the LD, i.e., they cannot distinguish inductive long photoperiods from noninductive short photoperiods (111). Molecular analysis implicated the transcription factor CO as the missing link between the circadian clock and photoperiodic timing.

Exquisite regulation of CO at the transcriptional and posttranslational levels mediates induction of the floral activator FLOWERING LOCUS T (FT) (130, 155) (**Figure 3**). The CO messenger RNA (mRNA) undergoes circadian oscillations with a waveform reflecting the lightexpectant and dark-expectant phases of a photoperiodic measurement system. CO protein that is translated in the dark is subject to proteasomal degradation, mediated by a ubiquitin ligase complex consisting of CONSTITUTIVE PHOTOMORPHOGENIC1 (COP1) and SUPPRESSOR OF PHYTOCHROME A (SPA1) (70, 141). Thus, CO protein serves as an external coincidence sensor activating *FT* expression in inductive LDs (4, 118).

A second mechanism relies on the phasing and activity of FKF1 and GI to properly shape the *CO* mRNA expression profile. *GI* oscillations peak earlier in SDs than FKF1 oscillations, whereas in LDs they are coexpressed at the end of the light phase. FKF1 is activated by blue light at the end of the day in LDs, promoting interaction with GI and causing degradation of the *CO*-repressing CYCLING DOF FACTORs (CDFs), thus allowing *CO* transcription (56, 121). Collectively, this

Short-day plant (SD plant): a plant that flowers when daylength remains below the critical daylength

CONSTANS (CO):

a transcription factor expressed in phloem companion cells of leaves that is controlled by the circadian clock and mediates activation of florigen genes in inductive photoperiods

FLOWERING LOCUS T (FT):

a mobile protein that in inducing photoperiods is transported from leaves to the shoot apical meristem via the phloem to trigger flowering



Different types of photoperiod-measuring systems. Each of the photoperiod-measuring systems has a timer and a light sensor involved. For the CO/FT regulon, the timer is the circadian clock and the light sensors are phytochromes, cryptochromes, and FKF1. *CO* mRNA is regulated by the circadian clock and CO protein stability is regulated by light. CO activates *FT* expression, which controls flowering, tuberization, and bud set. For the PIF regulon, the timer is the circadian clock and the light sensors are phytochromes. The circadian clock controls *PIF* mRNA, and light destabilizes the PIF protein. PIFs activate auxins and other growth-promoting genes to increase hypocotyl length in short days. The MDLM system uses the circadian clock as the timer but uses photosynthesis as the light sensor. The circadian clock and photosynthesis combine to control the accumulation and degradation of starch, which results in differential sucrose levels in the dark in SDs and LDs. The MDLM system supports growth and fitness through inducing expression of *PP2-A13* in SDs and *MIPS1* in LDs. Abbreviations: CO, CONSTANS; Cry, cryptochrome; *FT*, *FLOWERING LOCUS T*; MDLM, metabolic daylength measurement; *MIPS1*, *MYO-INOSITOL-1-PHOSPHATE SYNTHASE 1*; mRNA, messenger RNA; LD, long day; Phy, phytochrome; PIF, phytochrome interacting factor; *PP2-A13*, *PHLOEM PROTEIN 2-A13*; SD, short day.

mechanism shows features of both internal and external coincidence: Synchronization of the endogenous *GI* and *FKF1* rhythms in LDs allows degradation of CDFs to create the *CO* transcript pattern, and regulation of FKF1 activity by blue light and of COP1/SPA1 activity through CRYs at the peak of *CO* oscillations allows CO accumulation, ultimately culminating in *FT* expression at the end of the day.

It has long been known that the photoperiod is perceived in leaves and communicated by a mobile signal that travels to the shoot apical meristem (SAM). While the concept of florigen

assumed the existence of hormone-like substances (17), *Arabidopsis* molecular genetics unearthed *FT*, which encodes a mobile protein made in phloem companion cells and is transported to the SAM to act as the florigen (25, 61, 83). There, it interacts with the FD transcription factor to activate the expression of *SUPPRESSOR OF OVEREXPRESSION OF CONSTANS1* (*SOC1*) and *FRUITFUL* to initiate SAM reprogramming (1, 149) (see Section 3.1).

Among the LD plants are also temperate grasses, including the important crops *Hordeum vul*gare (barley) and *Triticum aestivum* (wheat) (62, 139). Flowering in LDs is similarly mediated via the upregulation of *FT*-like genes (15), albeit distinct features in the signaling mechanisms are found between *Arabidopsis* and grasses. PhyA and PhyB have a major influence on CO stability in *Arabidopsis*, whereas PhyC plays an important role in the photoperiodic response in barley and wheat (22, 100, 106, 141). In *Brachypodium distachyon*, a model for grass functional genetics, PhyC conveys light information to the EC component ELF3 for photoperiodic flowering (39). Growing *Brachypodium* in non-24-h light-dark cycles suggested that the photoperiodic response is determined by the absolute duration of the dark phase, as predicted for an hourglass timing mechanism (113). Gao et al. (39) therefore revisited the concept of dark reversion of active Pfr to inactive Pr in the absence of light as an hourglass timer (see Section 1.1). 72% of Pfr remained at the end of the night in LDs as opposed to 37% in SDs, suggesting that the level of active Pfr in the night indeed may determine activation of the photoperiodic regulator ELF3 (39, 142).

2.2. Short-Day Plants

Plants growing at lower latitudes are often SD plants, flowering when the photoperiod falls below a critical daylength. Thus, they tend to flower in the shorter days of autumn to escape high temperatures in summer. A common theme between LD and SD plants is the transcriptional upregulation of florigens in inductive photoperiods, whereas distinct molecular features provide the basis for the differential daylength responses. Furthermore, many SD plants set a critical daylength for floral transition in contrast to the gradual accumulation of florigen in LD plants (132, 134). This was corroborated by simulations revealing that *FT* does not display a critical daylength threshold in *Arabidopsis* (118).

In rice, *Heading date 3a* (*Hd3a*), an *FT* ortholog, promotes heading in inductive SDs, and *Rice FT-like 1* (*RFT1*) is necessary for heading in noninductive LDs (69). *Heading date 1* (*Hd1*), the *CO* ortholog, is predominantly expressed in the night in SDs and activates *Hd3a* expression to promote heading (49). In noninductive LDs, *Hd1* is expressed from night until dawn, and Hd1 accumulating in the light is converted to an inhibitor of *Hd3a* transcription by red light–activated PhyB signaling, acting as floral repressor (59). Thus, *Hd1* follows a circadian rhythm, similar to *Arabidopsis CO*, but has opposing effects on the *FT* ortholog *Hd3a* (154). Notably, *Arabidopsis* CO was recently shown to repress flowering in SDs apart from its flowering-promoting function in LDs, suggesting that, like rice Hd1, it is bifunctional (78).

In addition to the conserved *Hd1/Hd3a* regulon, a monocot-specific pathway comprising *Grain* number and heading date7 (Ghd7) and Early heading date1 (Ehd1) regulates heading. Ehd1 activates *RFT1* and *Hd3a* both in SDs and LDs (29). *Ehd1* in turn is repressed by Ghd7, which increases upon lengthening of the photoperiod, thus delaying heading in LDs (104, 152). This monocot-specific cascade is controlled by two distinct photosensitive phases regulated by the circadian clock (58). When the photoperiod exceeds the critical daylength, red light signaling induces *Ghd7*, which in turn counteracts the blue light–dependent *Ehd1* induction, delaying heading. When the photoperiod is shorter than the critical daylength, the sensitive phase for red light–mediated induction of the *Ghd7* repressor is shorter, allowing acute *Ehd1* expression triggered by morning blue light for *Hd3a* induction and heading (29, 58, 67, 104). This toggle switch–like on/off transcriptional

Shoot apical meristem (SAM):

tissue at the shoot tip that contains undifferentiated cells and, upon the arrival of a floral stimulus, initiates flower formation

Florigen: a classical term referring to a mobile substance produced in leaves under inductive conditions that transfers the photoperiodic information to the shoot apical meristem to evoke floral transition

Long-day plant (LD plant): plant that flowers when daylength exceeds the critical daylength

Critical daylength: duration of daily light period required to induce flowering of long-day plants or to inhibit flowering of short-day plants daylength and allows rice to recognize subtle changes in daylength near the equator. In the SD plant *Ipomoea nil* (formerly *Pharbitis nil*, Japanese morning glory), flowering is controlled by the length of the night, and night breaks of 5 min of red light illumination impair

trolled by the length of the night, and night breaks of 5 min of red light illumination impair flowering (117). The sensitivity of these plants to the night breaks shows features of external coincidence, and this photoperiodic response rhythm appears to be set at dusk (79). At the molecular level, PnFT1 and PnFT2, the orthologs of FT, are expressed specifically in SDs with a rhythm set at dusk so that PnFT is phased to a constant time after dusk (48). Accordingly, accessions with differences in the critical night length responses express PnFT at different times after dusk (48). This is in contrast to the known circadian rhythms in *Arabidopsis* that are regulated by an oscillator entrained by dawn and dusk but resembles *Arabidopsis elf3* mutants that entrain rhythms at dusk and become arrhythmic in constant light (87). Interestingly, PnFT expression is not directly correlated with PnCO expression. Thus, daylength measurement in *Ipomoea* utilizes a mechanism that is different from that of *Arabidopsis* or rice.

reaction of the florigen genes Hd3a and RFT1 contributes to flowering in response to the critical

3. PHOTOPERIODIC TRANSCRIPTOMES

3.1. Gene Expression Changes During Photoperiodic Flowering in Arabidopsis

The transition to flowering marks a grand rearrangement of the developmental and metabolic programs of the plant that is conducted in order to support offspring fitness. In the last few decades, the gene regulatory networks underlying these massive rearrangements have been revealed through transcriptomic experiments.

Sinapis alba (white mustard) was one of the first models used to study photoperiodic control at the molecular level, as exposing SD-grown plants to a single LD elicited a highly synchronized floral transition of the SAM, making it ideal to explore early gene expression changes. Subtractive complementary DNA hybridization upon lengthening of the photoperiod identified early events in the SAM (88) and the leaves upon lengthening of the photoperiod (50, 51) and identified an ortholog of SOC1 as an early response gene. After the discovery of CO at the core of the photoperiod-sensing pathway in *Arabidopsis*, subtractive hybridization of a transgenic line with steroid-inducible *CO* expression showed that *FT* and *SOC1* are both rapid response genes required for photoperiodic flowering control by CO (119). Subsequently, microarray analysis of the leaves of a *co* mutant confirmed that a major role for CO is to control *FT* expression in leaves (149) (**Figure 4**). Together, these data suggested that CO has few targets but those targets are at the core of the vegetative-to-floral transition.

Subsequent to the activation of FT by CO, FT travels from the leaves to the meristem, and the shift from vegetative to developmental growth is followed by a "burst in expression of cell division," marking the transition to a rapidly expanding floral meristem (66). Using a transgenic line that constitutively expresses FT in the meristem, researchers showed that reciprocal communication occurs from the reproductive meristem back to the vegetative tissues, as thousands of genes are misregulated in the leaves even when FT is restricted to the meristem (30). Coming full circle, RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) of whole co mutant plants demonstrated that many genes are misexpressed throughout the plant, suggesting that preventing the transition to flowering disrupts an extensive rearrangement of gene regulatory networks (43).

To obtain a tissue-level spatial resolution of the photoperiod-responsive transcriptome, Tian and coworkers (136) analyzed epidermal cells and vascular companion cells separately via isolation of nuclei tagged in specific cell types (INTACT). Cross-referencing gene expression with chromatin accessibility monitored with transposase-accessible chromatin using sequencing (ATAC-seq) data revealed that LDs result in general increases in chromatin accessibility, while

Night break: light pulse applied during the long, dark period of a short day that promotes flowering of long-day plants and prevents flowering in short-day plants



Schematic of transcriptional cascade triggered by the CO/FT regulon. In *Arabidopsis* in short days, CO protein is inactivated, preventing the activation of *FT* expression. Upon transfer to long days, CO is stabilized in the transport tissue and activates *FT* transcription, and FT translocates to the meristem. FT promotes the transition to flowering, which is accompanied by a burst of expression in cell cycle genes. Additionally, transcriptional reprogramming of the rest of the plant occurs to support the transition from vegetative to reproductive development. Abbreviations: CO, CONSTANS; FT, FLOWERING LOCUS T.

RNA-seq showed differential gene expression changes in the vasculature and mesophyll cells. For instance, circadian clock and signaling genes change more dramatically in the vasculature, while energy-related genes change in the mesophyll, providing evidence for cell- and tissue-specific photoperiodic gene networks. This was in concordance with tissue-specific ATAC-seq that showed vascular-specific, mesophyll-specific, and overlapping LD-induced accessible chromatin regions, with vasculature having roughly twice the number of photoperiod-specific accessible chromatin regions.

In summary, transcriptome studies have revealed a transcriptional cascade starting with CO inducing FT in the vasculature, followed by the meristem-specific induction of growth-promoting genes, and ending with whole-plant transcriptional reprogramming in support of the transition to reproduction and then production of offspring.

3.2. General Photoperiodic Gene Expression Changes in Arabidopsis

At least one-third of the *Arabidopsis* transcriptome is under the control of the circadian clock or displays diurnal rhythms, and recently researchers estimated that one-third of the transcriptome also changes in response to photoperiod (26, 47, 74, 90, 92). The first glimpses of the full scope of photoperiod-regulated genes and cellular processes came from a microarray time-course analysis of SD- and LD-grown *Arabidopsis* (90, 92). These early forays demonstrated that photoperiod-dependent changes can occur as changes in amplitude (as observed for *FT*) or phase (as observed for clock genes) and are best captured through collecting data over at least 24 h (**Figure 4**). Microarray was again employed for the analysis of gene expression changes in *Arabidopsis* in response to a wider range of photoperiods (4-, 6-, 8-, 12-, and 18-h photoperiods), although daily sampling density was restricted to dusk and dawn (37). This study confirmed the phase delay of core clock transcripts, such as *CCA1* and *LHY*, in lengthening photoperiods but also identified key photoperiod-regulated genes such as *PRODUCTION OF ANTHOCYANIN PIGMENT 1* and *SNF1-RELATED PROTEIN KINASE REGULATORY SUBUNIT BETA-1* and cellular processes such as primary and specialized metabolism, energy sensing, and protein translation.

3.3. Photoperiodic Gene Expression Beyond Arabidopsis thaliana

High-throughput sequencing has also facilitated the study of photoperiod-controlled gene expression in plant systems outside of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Seasonal gene expression changes and methylation state were assessed in *Arabidopsis balleri*, a perennial relative of *Arabidopsis thaliana* that was grown in natural environments and thus exposed to a wide array of seasonal variables apart from photoperiod (57, 96). Importantly, samples were collected once a week for 2 years but included the collection of 2-h resolution time-course samples from the equinoxes and the solstices. This study showed that photoperiod controls the phase of expression of core clock genes, even in the wild, but also showed that nearly 1,800 genes have amplitude or phase changes controlled by the seasons. In addition, bisulfite sequencing hinted that methylation of specific genomic loci is seasonally controlled, although the bulk of methylation is stable throughout the year. This highlighted the importance of photoperiod for gene expression and epigenetic changes in an environment where the plant is challenged by the full complement of biotic and abiotic changes accompanying seasons.

Photoperiod gene expression studies in wheat, *Medicago, Panicum hallii*, sugarcane, and soybean showed that, similar to previous studies, metabolic, clock, and flowering-time genes are regulated seasonally, confirming the idea that there are core cellular networks that respond to photoperiod in a wide array of plant species (80, 120, 135, 148).

3.4. Data Mining Transcriptomes for Mechanisms of Photoperiod-Regulated Gene Expression

Available photoperiodic gene expression data sets and the development of new tools to analyze this data have resulted in the successful identification of new photoperiod-measuring mechanisms. A meta-analysis using *Arabidopsis* photoperiod data revealed that PhyA is important for photoperiod sensing at dawn, especially in SDs (123). Furthermore, photoperiod gene expression studies in wheat noted that PhyB and PhyC do not control the expression of a large number of photoperiod-regulated genes, while studies in *Brachypodium* helped reveal a role for PhyC in photoperiod measurement (39, 65, 107). This highlights the idea that photoperiodic gene expression changes are likely occurring through multiple mechanisms and can recruit different phytochromes for photoperiod sensing or possibly work independently of the phytochromes.

The aforementioned *Arabidopsis* photoperiod time-course RNA-seq data set was also used to suggest that a variety of photoperiod transcriptional networks are likely operating in *Arabidopsis* (74). The data set was generated with *Arabidopsis* grown in three photoperiods (16L:8D, 12L:12D, and 8L:16D) with 4-h resolution across 24 h of each photoperiod. Using an rDEI calculation (rDEI = sum of 24 h of expression in condition one/sum of 24 h of expression in condition two), pattern clustering, and *cis*-element analyses, researchers identified a multitude of photoperiod-responsive coexpression clusters. These included known clusters such as clock-regulated genes that phase shift but also unknown clusters such as a group of genes encoding ribosomal proteins that respond to photoperiod with a specific expression trough. This work suggests that many photoperiod measurement systems are likely working in parallel to control the expression of genes involved in specific biological and cellular processes (74).

In support of this idea, the original photoperiod time-course microarray data (90) were reanalyzed using the rDEI calculation that allowed for time-independent identification of photoperiodinduced genes. Clustering of these genes based on their daily patterns of expression in different photoperiods revealed a biphasic expression pattern with high expression in SDs, a pattern first recognized in the original analyses of microarray data (76, 90) (**Figure 5**; see also



Schematic of photoperiodic gene expression patterns. Photoperiodic changes in gene expression can occur as changes in phase or amplitude. (*a*) When days get longer, the phase of core clock genes and clock-controlled genes delay. (*b*) Amplitude changes have been shown to occur in four ways. In the *CO/FT* regulon in long-day plants, *FT* expression is nearly undetectable in short days, but upon transfer to long days a dusk-phased pattern of *FT* expression appears. PIF target genes increase in amplitude at the end of a long night to promote hypocotyl elongation. Genes controlled by an MDLM system have a similar amplitude change as *FT* or PIF targets but have a second peak in expression that is present in any photoperiod. Thus, genes such as *PP2-A13* and *MIPS1* go from monophasic to biphasic, depending on the photoperiod. Daylight is shown in yellow, and darkness in blue. Abbreviations: *CO, CONSTANS; FT, FLOWERING LOCUS T*; MDLM, metabolic daylength measurement; *MIPS1, MYO-INOSITOL-1-PHOSPHATE SYNTHASE 1*; PIF, phytochrome-interacting factor; *PP2-A13, PHLOEM PROTEIN 2-A13*.

Figure 6). Deeper examination of this biphasic expression pattern led to the discovery of a noncanonical photoperiod-measuring system housed in the metabolic networks of plants (see Section 4).

In sum, transcriptomics is particularly important for understanding daily and seasonal timing mechanisms in plants. Perhaps the efficacy of these approaches lies in the nature of daily timing mechanisms, which are driven by closed 24-h loops, allowing for a full survey of the scope of gene expression changes. Thus, best practices for generating new photoperiod transcriptomic data should include at least 24 h of time points with the highest temporal resolution possible.

		Photosynthetic period	Absolute photoperiod		
ms	Light sensor	Photosynthetic complex	Phy/Cry	Phy	Unknown
hanis	Timer	Clock	Clock	Clock	Clock
Mec	Measurement system	Starch/sucrose balance	СО	PIF	Unknown
outs	Target genes	PP2-A13/MIPS1	FT	YUC	Clock and clock- regulated genes
Outp	Biological processes	Vegetative growth and cellular fitness	Flowering	Hypocotyl elongation	Clock-controlled processes

Figure 6

Summary of photoperiod measurement mechanisms in plants. The two types of photoperiods that plants are known to measure, photosynthetic period and absolute photoperiod, are shown at the top with the mechanisms that measure each photoperiod type below. For each mechanism, the light sensor, timer type, and photoperiod-measuring system are listed. In addition, known target genes and biological processes are listed (below). Abbreviations: CO, CONSTANS; Cry, cryptochrome; *FT, FLOWERING LOCUS T; MIPS1, MYO-INOSITOL-1-PHOSPHATE SYNTHASE 1*; Phy, phytochrome; PIF, phytochrome-interacting factor; *PP2-A13, PHLOEM PROTEIN 2-A13; YUC, YUCCA.*

4. NONCANONICAL PHOTOPERIOD-MEASURING SYSTEMS

Metabolic daylength measurement (MDLM) system: photoperiodmeasuring system based on the photoperiodcontrolled regulation of starch degradation Studies of flowering time in plants are responsible for our current understanding of the fundamental principles of photoperiod measuring in all organisms (see Section 1.1), but the canonical CO/FT regulon for flowering cannot account for the totality of photoperiod-dependent changes. A few lines of evidence suggest this. Firstly, early expression studies suggested that CO is regulating few genes in the leaves, but many genes change their expression in different photoperiods (see Section 3). Secondly, photoperiodic flowering is dispensable, with some plant species being day neutral for flowering. Thirdly, SD plants flower faster in SDs but often grow faster in LDs, suggesting that these two important processes can be disconnected in time. Fourthly, on one hand, mutations in CO lead to defects in photoperiodic flowering but seem to have little effect on other processes, while on the other hand circadian clock mutants have defects in flowering, growth, metabolism, and a multitude of photoperiod-controlled cellular processes, suggesting that there may be nonflowering photoperiodic processes that require proper clock function (46, 122, 146). Fifthly, the photoperiodic flowering networks are often localized in transport tissues of the plant, but photoperiodic changes occur in nontransport tissues, although reciprocal regulation was discussed above. This is exemplified by the tissue-specific RNA-seq experiment showing differential regulation of genes in the mesophyll and transport cells and suggesting different photoperiod timekeeping mechanisms based on cell type (136). In the following section, we describe the current understanding of noncanonical photoperiod-measuring systems with updated information on the known molecular components for each.

4.1. The Metabolic Daylength Measurement System

In Arabidopsis, CO causes the induction of genes in LDs, such as FT. Mounting evidence suggests that photoperiodic timekeeping is not constrained to targets of CO and that there are photoperiod measurement systems that can induce gene expression in LDs or SDs independently of CO. Recently, the metabolic daylength measurement (MDLM) system was shown to control the expression of genes in both SD and LD conditions (41, 76, 145). Initially, photoperiod microarray data were used to show that a class of genes is expressed in a biphasic manner preferentially in SDs (76) (Figure 5). One of these genes, PHLOEM PROTEIN 2-A13 (PP2-A13) was then shown to support SD-specific growth and fitness. A PP2-A13 promoter: LUCIFERASE reporter was then used to demonstrate that PP2-A13 expression is under the control of a CO-independent photoperiodmeasuring system and that this system is housed in the plant metabolic networks, hence the name metabolic daylength measurement (MDLM) system. In this system, light is sensed by the photosynthetic apparatus, which then acts to produce sucrose and starch. The circadian clock functions in this system to relay time-of-day information to accurately control the accumulation and degradation of starch (36, 93, 94). In SDs, the plant saves most of the photosynthetic product as starch, resulting in low nighttime sucrose levels, whereas in LDs, more of the starch is converted to sucrose, resulting in high nighttime sucrose levels. The sucrose is converted into a transcriptional signal through an unidentified sugar-signaling network, which results in the induction of genes, such as PP2-A13, in the low-sucrose nights of SDs to support vegetative growth and fitness (Figure 4). To demonstrate the importance of starch/sucrose partitioning, mutants in starch production or starch breakdown lack the ability to measure seasons accurately and properly control MDLM-regulated genes, such as PP2-A13.

This work was then expanded to show that the MDLM system is bifunctional and can also control induction of genes in LDs (145) (**Figure 4**; see also Section 5.3). In this study, the MDLM system promotes LD expression of *MYO-INOSITOL-1-PHOSPHATE SYNTHASE 1 (MIPS1*), which is required to support leaf growth exclusively in LDs (145). It does this by increasing free





Schematic of photoperiod types measured by plants: the absolute photoperiod and the photosynthetic period. The absolute photoperiod is the time of day when the photoreceptors are active. This can occur at very low light levels and is determined by the light sensitivity of the photoreceptors. The CO/FT and PIF photoperiod measurement regulons are controlled by this type of daylength; thus, hypocotyl growth, flowering, tuberization, and bud set are responsive. The photosynthetic period is the time of the day when light is above the compensation point and the plant is able to fix carbon. The photosynthetic period is sensed by the photosynthetic complex and controls the MDLM system. In turn, genes such as *PP2-A13* and *MIPS1* are regulated by the photosynthetic period and are responsible for supporting vegetative leaf growth, fitness, and yield. Daylight is shown in yellow, and darkness in blue. Abbreviations: CO, CONSTANS; FT, FLOWERING LOCUS T; MDLM, metabolic daylength measurement; *MIPS1, MYO-INOSITOL-1-PHOSPHATE SYNTHASE 1*; PIF, phytochrome-interacting factor; *PP2-A13, PHLOEM PROTEIN 2-A13*.

sucrose levels in the light during the latter part of an LD. The *mips1* mutant is unable to generate fresh weight in LDs but amazingly does not affect leaf organogenesis or flowering time, suggesting that the MDLM and CO photoperiod-measuring systems are working in parallel.

Perhaps most importantly, the discovery of the MDLM system shows that plants can measure two types of photoperiod, the absolute photoperiod and the photosynthetic period, a concept suggested nearly forty years ago (19) (**Figure 7**). The MDLM system is sensing the photosynthetic period, that is, it measures the number of hours per day in which light is above the compensation point, allowing the plant to fix carbon (19, 33, 89). This was demonstrated in an experiment akin to a classic night break experiment, which showed that light above the compensation point during the middle part of the day could promote growth and induce the *mips1* mutant growth defect, but light above the compensation point at the beginning of the day could not. Conversely, the CO/FT photoperiodic timekeeper relies on phytochromes for light sensing, which detect light at very low intensities, suggesting that the absolute photoperiod is measured (**Figure 7**). This ability to detect absolute photoperiod and photosynthetic period makes sense. It allows plants to ensure reproduction in a particular season every year but also to adjust their own physiological growth status in a diversity of light environments (**Figure 8**).

4.2. The PIF Coincidence Mechanism

In addition to the MDLM system, there is another CO-independent mechanism controlling SD induction of genes that was discovered by studying rhythmic hypocotyl growth. *Arabidopsis* hypocotyls elongate in a photoperiodic manner, growing faster in SDs than in LDs. By using high temporal resolution hypocotyl growth assays, researchers have shown that hypocotyl elongation is phased to near dawn by the circadian clock (102). The circadian clock was then shown to control the expression of the red light–signaling and growth-promoting transcription factor genes, *PHYTOCHROME-INTERACTING FACTOR 4 (PIF4)* and *PIF5*, phasing their expression

Absolute photoperiod:

photoperiod that begins with the first photons of light at dawn and ends with the last photons of light at dusk

Compensation point:

the light intensity at which the rate of photosynthesis is equal to the rate of respiration; at this light intensity, the net carbon fixation rate is equal to zero

PHYTOCHROME-INTERACTING FACTORs (PIFs):

transcription factors that interact with active phytochrome



Photoperiod regulons throughout plant development. The photoperiod measurement systems that control germination in the seed or through maternal effect are not known. Subsequent to germination, the PIF regulon controls photomorphogenic hypocotyl growth to ensure that the plant can reach the light for photosynthesis. After reaching light, the plant transitions to growing leaves, and the MDLM system supports optimal vegetative leaf growth in either short or long days. The transition to reproduction, and eventually senescence, is controlled by the CO/FT regulon. Abbreviations: CO, CONSTANS; FT, FLOWERING LOCUS T; MDLM, metabolic daylength measurement; MIPS1, MYO-INOSITOL-1-PHOSPHATE SYNTHASE 1; PIF, phytochrome-interacting factor; PP2-A13, PHLOEM PROTEIN 2-A13.

to the end of the night (**Figure 3**). In turn, PIF4 regulates the expression of transcription factors and auxin synthesis genes that control hypocotyl elongation (81, 82, 101). Coincidence occurs when light triggers the ubiquitination and degradation of the PIF proteins by the BLADE ON PETIOLE 1 and BLADE ON PETIOLE 2 BTB-ankyrin E3 ubiquitin ligases. This keeps their levels low in LDs, but allows for accumulation in SDs, precipitating hypocotyl elongation (102, 157).

4.3. Phase Shifting of the Circadian Clock–Controlled Genes and Other Transcriptional Responses to Photoperiod

In addition to the MDLM and PIF photoperiod-measuring systems, we know that circadian clockcontrolled genes exhibit phase shifts in response to changing photoperiods, but little is known about the molecular mechanisms that drive these shifts. Furthermore, transcriptomics suggests that there are additional photoperiod-measuring systems controlling gene expression (74). Undoubtedly, future efforts will focus on understanding the full breadth of photoperiod-measuring systems in plants, revealing how plants coordinate a range of developmental processes in response to seasonal changes in daylength.

5. PHOTOPERIODIC CONTROL OF DEVELOPMENT

Plants undergo a series of developmental transitions, starting with the germination of the seed and progressing to the generation and expansion of leaves for primary metabolism, reproduction, and then senescence (**Figure 8**). New and classic evidence suggests photoperiod may play a role in controlling many of these important developmental processes, and we are beginning to link known photoperiod measurement systems to the various developmental responses. The following sections cover some major developmental responses to photoperiod and link these to known photoperiod measurement systems when possible.

5.1. Germination

Seasonal timing of germination has a clear impact on seedling fitness, but little is known about the molecular mechanisms that control germination in response to photoperiod. This is likely due to the relatively small effects of photoperiod on seedling germination in the genetic model, *Arabidopsis thaliana*. In *Arabidopsis*, the photoperiod that seeds experience at germination has less influence than the photoperiod experienced by the mother plant (55). Plants grown in SDs have higher offspring germination rates than counterparts grown in LDs. Maternal effects do have control over germination rates in other plant species, but the photoperiod experienced by the seeds also has larger impacts on germination in species such as birch (8; reviewed in 68). This effect of the maternal and seed-experienced photoperiods, in combination with vernalization, the exposure to winter temperatures, can serve to optimally time germination in plants with different lifestyles (e.g., winter annuals, spring/summer annuals). In a natural environment, genetic variation in response to maternal photoperiod may allow optimal timing of germination in habitats with different climates, and molecular genetics should be employed to understand the underlying networks that control photoperiodic seed germination. Currently, little is known about what potential photoperiod-measuring system may be operating in seeds to control germination.

5.2. Metabolism

As photoautotrophic organisms, postgermination plants become metabolically dependent on ambient light for most developmental processes. Alignment of the circadian clock with the diurnal

Photoassimilate partitioning: allocation of products of photosynthesis for the synthesis of sucrose or starch

environment is required for *Arabidopsis* fitness, in part through coordination of photosynthetic energy capture (28). Shortening photoperiods represent a potential energy-limiting environment for plants, while lengthening photoperiods signal times when energy is replete. In response, photosynthetic capacity changes with the photoperiod through alterations in leaf size and shape, chlorophyll content, stomatal density, chloroplast numbers, and levels of transcripts and proteins that are critical for photoperiodic function (72). Furthermore, changes in photosynthetic capacity have been tracked in natural environments, and photosynthetic rates are closely tied to daylength even when other environmental variables are present (6). In a particularly striking example, facultative crassulacean acid metabolism (CAM) plants, such as *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana*, switch from C₃ photosynthesis to CAM photosynthesis when days shorten. This is likely due in part to the increase of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase protein levels and activity that are tied to SDs (11–13).

Not only is energy production controlled by photoperiod, but plants also exhibit exquisite control over the partitioning of photosynthetic assimilates. Many plants store starch, an osmotically inert storage polysaccharide, as an energy reserve in anticipation of unfavorable energy environments (125). More than 40 years ago, an inverse relationship between daylength and percent distribution of photoassimilates dedicated to starch was observed in soybean (19, 21). In LDs, a lower percent of the total photoassimilate is stored as starch, while in SDs this percentage increases. This likely serves as a transitory carbon storage system for the plant to produce mono- and disaccharide sugars in energy-limiting conditions, such as the long nights of SD conditions. Measurement of sugars bore out this hypothesis, showing that their presence is maintained at night when no new photoassimilate is being produced through photosynthesis. As mentioned previously, the term photoperiod was refined to photosynthetic period in this series of articles (19, 21) because this was a daylength measurement process that relied on metabolic rather than absolute daylength (19) (**Figure 7**).

Arabidopsis has emerged as a powerful model to study seasonal and daily control of photoassimilate distribution. The same transitory diurnal starch storage system exists in *Arabidopsis* as in soybean, but mutant analyses allow for investigating the molecular mechanisms involved in this system. For instance, the ability to accurately gauge night lengths requires a functional circadian clock, with clock mutants exhausting starch reserves before dawn or causing excess starch storage at night (36, 42, 44, 77, 131). Additionally, some of the first mutants ever identified in *Arabidopsis* were not able to produce starch, and these mutants are in a metabolic free run in which monoand disaccharides are produced in the light but are quickly used up after dusk, causing the plant to enter a starvation state (16, 37, 105). This causes greater physiological defects when nights are longer, as in winter-like photoperiods, indicating the importance of the system for maintaining plant fitness across the year.

Recently, a series of carefully designed experiments showed that the percentage of photoassimilates dedicated to starch is dependent on daylength but independent of light intensity and the daily light integral, a so-called truly photoperiodic process that responds to the duration of the light rather than the photon flux intensity (89). This was subsequently shown to be under the control of the circadian clock when a *cca1 lby elf3* triple mutant was unable to increase photoassimilate partitioning to starch in SDs, but maintained the ability to adjust starch degradation to accommodate the long night (3). This indicates that there are separate daylength measurement systems to alter starch synthesis and degradation rates in response to changing photoperiods. Interestingly, the MDLM system was shown to require appropriate starch synthesis and breakdown to accurately control expression of short and long day–specific genes (76, 145). It will be interesting to determine how photoperiodic regulation of starch occurs and how this is communicated to the MDLM system. After the discovery of the inverse relationship between daylength and starch accumulation rate in soybean, similar responses were found in spinach, sugar beet, corn, and pangola (20). However, in alfalfa, the percentage of photoassimilate dedicated to starch did not change under different photoperiods, suggesting that the connection between starch and photoperiod is not conserved among every plant species and can be discarded, similar to photoperiodic flowering in day-neutral plants.

The plant's nutritional status is important for providing sufficient energy to produce viable seeds, and it has become clear that flowering is under control of the metabolic state of the plant. Early on, sucrose was observed to display a transient rise in the phloem near the shoot apex in *S. alba* in response to an inductive LD (7). Trehalose-6-phosphate (T6P), an important signaling sugar, correlates with sucrose levels across the daily light-dark cycle (35). In *Arabidopsis*, T6P peaks at the end of the day, and reduced T6P synthesis leads to delayed *FT* expression, whereas overproduction leads to early flowering in both SDs and LDs (143). Thus, T6P connects carbohydrate status to photoperiodic flowering and provides a tantalizing link between photosynthetic period and flowering. Profiling chromatin-accessible regions in single cells revealed that a shift to inductive LDs led to decompaction of chromatin proximal to the *TREHALOSE-6-PHOSPHATE SYNTHASE9* gene and concomitant upregulation (136). That being said, no role for T6P in flowering-time control has been demonstrated in other plants outside the Brassicaceae (34).

5.3. Growth Linked to Metabolism

Physiological studies of photoperiodic leaf growth have been performed in many species, and in general, rapid leaf expansion occurs in LDs, presumably because energy is replete, allowing the plant to dedicate resources to further increasing photosynthetic capacity. Opposite to this, hypocotyl growth in seedlings, which mostly consists of cell expansion, is greater in SDs, presumably to increase the height of the plant and give it a better chance to reach light. This process is controlled by the PIF photoperiod measurement system (102) (**Figure 3**; see also Section 4). Subsequently, vegetative growth allows for the expansion of photosynthetic tissues to acquire additional energy and is tightly linked to metabolism (42, 89). Historically, flowering and growth were both recognized to be under the control of photoperiod but able to be timed differentially throughout the year (138). For instance, both SD and LD plants can have an increased growth rate in LDs (142).

Plant growth can be influenced by many internal and external signals but at its most fundamental level requires cell division, cell expansion, and cell maintenance, and little is known about the molecular mechanisms that support photoperiodic leaf growth. In *Arabidopsis*, cell division and possibly cell expansion increase in LDs, resulting in rapid leaf growth prior to bolting (5, 24, 131). Interestingly, leaf initiation rate of *Arabidopsis* is not changed by photoperiod, but flowering is delayed in SDs, extending the phase of leaf initiation and resulting in a larger plant at bolting (24).

Growth rate in plants is often intimately linked to metabolic status, and the higher rate of photoassimilate partitioning to starch in SD-grown *Arabidopsis* was proposed to be caused by a restriction of growth rate (89). Additionally, the MDLM system was recently shown to promote LD expression of *MIPS1*, which is required to support leaf growth exclusively in LDs (145). Interestingly, the MDLM system also promotes SD expression of *PP2-A13*, which supports leaf growth in SDs, demonstrating that plants are taking account of their metabolic status in any season to optimize growth strategies with the proper time of year.

While not directly connected to any photoperiod measurement system, other mutants with photoperiod-specific growth defects have been reported. Autophagy mutants have SD-specific growth defects that are caused by salicylic acid overproduction (60). The mitochondrial FtsH4 protease protects against cellular death triggered by oxidative damage in SDs (63), and mutating a chloroplast NADPH-dependent thioredoxin reductase or a thiamine pyrophosphate riboswitch alters starch balance and causes SD-specific defects in growth (9, 73, 114).

5.4. CONSTANS-Dependent Growth Processes

Besides the photoperiodic control of vegetative growth in leaves and hypocotyl, many species have photoperiodic growth phenotypes linked to the protection of reproductive tissues and controlled by the CO/FT regulon.

5.4.1. Short-day promotion of growth: tuberization. Tubers are modified stems that act as important asexual reproductive structures, allowing a plant to survive underground during adverse environmental conditions. Potato tubers, for instance, allow a plant to overwinter underground, with the plant eventually reemerging from the meristematic potato eyes during favorable conditions (159). Night break experiments have demonstrated that tuberization in potatoes is controlled by photoperiod.

Similar to sexual reproduction through photoperiodic flowering, tuberization relies on a modified CO/FT regulon producing a mobile signal in the leaves (99). In LDs, *Solanum tuberosum CONSTANS-LIKE1* (*StCOL1*) peaks at dawn as a consequence of proteolytic degradation of the CDF1 repressor mediated by the FKF1/GI complex, and the StCOL1 protein accumulates due to stabilization by phytochromes. StCOL1 represses one of the *FT* paralogs, *StSP6A*, by transcriptionally activating the antagonist *StSP5G*. In SDs, CDF1 accumulates, inhibiting *StCOL1* expression and thus indirectly activating *StSP6A* and the transport of StSP6A to stolons to induce tuber formation (99).

According to this model, night breaks would inhibit tuber formation in SDs due to a stabilization of StCOL1 at night. More recently, it was shown that the repression of tuberization by night breaks cannot be solely explained by stabilization of StCOL1, implying additional factors beyond *StCOL1*, *StPG5*, and *StSP6A* in the photoperiodic control of tuberization (110).

5.4.2. Short-day restriction of growth: growth cessation and dormancy in buds. Perennial plants, especially those in boreal and temperate regions, have developed unique aboveground strategies to survive low temperatures in winter, including growth cessation and the formation of buds that have thick protective coatings that shield sensitive meristematic tissue from harsh winter conditions. Recently, new genetic and genomic technologies have propelled tree species such as hybrid aspen into the research community as models for studying overwintering strategies in perennial trees. These studies have demonstrated a clearly delineated set of steps that occur when inductive SDs are reached in autumn: The meristematic cells enter an energy-saving program, and progression of the cell cycle is reduced; plasmodesmatal transport is blocked, reducing the movement of growth-promoting compounds; buds begin to form; and then dormancy is established (140).

Akin to flowering and tuberization, short night breaks can slow or prevent entry into the dormancy developmental program that is controlled by a modified version of the canonical CO/FT regulon. LDs utilize the CO/FT regulon to induce flowering, similar to in *Arabidopsis*, but also to repress the dormancy-promoting gene *BRANCHED1* (*BRC1*) (84). This occurs via a transcriptional cascade beginning with activation of the *CO* ortholog. This in turn induces *FT2*, an *FT* ortholog, which activates the *LIKE-APETALA1* (*LAP1*) transcription factor gene. LAP1 then acts to repress *BRC1*, resulting in the promotion of growth and differentiation of meristems. In SDs, the *CO-FT-LAP1* regulon is reduced, resulting in the activation of *BRC1* and the establishment of the developmental transitions to dormancy.

Transcriptomics demonstrated that the establishment of winter bud formation requires the combined actions of abscisic acid and ethylene and results in decreased cell cycle progression and the reconfiguration of metabolic programming to meet the needs of a low-energy SD environment

(115, 133). Similarly, in grapevine buds, each stage of dormancy and bud break across the year has distinct gene expression profiles that align with metabolic needs and stress responses (27).

5.4.3. CONSTANS-dependent control of seed size. Seed size is an agricultural trait that is particularly important for yield. Recently, it was shown that photoperiod controls seed size in a variety of species and that LD plants had larger seeds in LDs and SD plants had larger seeds in SDs (156). Accordingly, it was demonstrated that this photoperiod-specific effect on seed size required functional CO for photoperiod measurement. It was then shown that *CO* is expressed in the seed and acts to repress the gene *APETALA2*, which is known to repress seed size. This work is important because it further demonstrates that CO controls growth to protect reproductive and offspring tissues and that CO can function in seed tissues to control growth, independent of its role in flowering in the leaves.

5.5. Senescence

Senescence is a critical process for redistributing valuable resources in the plant. In annual species, senescence is used to pass nutrients to the seeds to ensure fitness in the offspring, while in perennials, resources are stored, often over winter, in roots or stems. It is important that senescence is tightly regulated. If senescence occurs too early, valuable photosynthetic tissue is lost, and if triggered too late, trees can experience marcescence or xylem embolism. Flowering often precedes senescence in SDs and LDs, indicating that senescence is under photoperiodic control, either directly or downstream of the CO/FT regulon (**Figure 8**). While very little is known about the molecular connections between photoperiod and senescence, in *Arabidopsis*, upregulation of the senescence-associated gene *SEN4* was higher in LDs than in SDs, which could act as a valuable marker to identify the molecular steps leading to photoperiodic control of senescence (64).

6. CLIMATE CHANGE AND PHOTIC BARRIERS TO LATITUDINAL MIGRATION

The climate catastrophe is rapidly disconnecting photoperiod from temperature and water availability, and recent work suggests that extinction of plant species will accompany changes in climate (31). To avoid extinction, it has been calculated that animal and plant species are tracking optimal thermal environments by moving poleward at a median rate of 16.9 km per decade, although species variability likely affects these rates dramatically (23, 98). Because photoperiod will not change as the climate warms, plants are attempting to align with thermal environments at the expense of remaining at optimal photoperiodic environments. While photoperiodic misalignment is less often considered in studies of latitudinal migration, a multitude of potential constraints have been proposed that could result in photic barriers, defined as obstacles in latitudinal movement due to photoperiod-dependent restrictions on fitness (53, 54, 137). Primarily, species with relatively strong photoperiodic responses, and less adaptive flexibility, are proposed to reach latitudinal photic barriers more quickly than highly adaptive species. This can cause misalignment with the thermal environment but also the biotic environment, constraining temporal or spatial alignment with pollinator species (124). Additionally, species with restricted range expansion are likely to face increased competition with invasive plant species or threat by pathogens that have expanded ranges caused by climate change (116, 144).

Many of the ancient relatives of our crops originated at the equator and are now grown at higher latitudes. Thus, relatively rapid latitudinal distribution was a key component of plant domestication, and we are now able to mine this genetic history to understand which challenges plants will face in the next 100 years of climate destruction. Genome-wide association studies of Photic barrier: a barrier to latitudinal or altitudinal movement caused by unfavorable light conditions

Domestication:

cultivation of wild species in new environments to meet human needs, entailing genetic changes and generating new varieties better adapted to zones suitable for agriculture domesticated plants that have been crossed to their ancient counterparts tell us more about loci contributing to latitudinal movement. One cellular process that is often altered during domestication is the pacing of the circadian clock, which sets the timing for photoperiodic timekeeping (18, 75, 86, 158).

A clear example came from studies in day-neutral tomato, which offers the possibility to monitor the circadian clock and its response to photoperiod independently of photoperiodic flowering (95). Tomato originates from the Andean region. Early in the domestication process, the selection of loss-of-function alleles of tomato EMPFINDLICHER IN DUNKELROT1 (EID1), an F-box protein acting as a repressor of light signaling, led to a higher chlorophyll content in LDs and unintentionally delayed the circadian clock phase so that physiological processes occurred later during the light-dark cycle. EID1 has a large effect on the response of the transcriptome to short photoperiods, likely due to the global phase shift EID1 exerts on circadian rhythms (151).

Variations in photoperiodic flowering are a key factor when crops are introduced in agricultural areas far from their origin upon domestication. *H. vulgare*, originating from the Fertile Crescent in the Middle East, carries an active allele of *Photoperiod-H1 (Ppd-H1)*, a pseudo-response regulator and activator of flowering, and flowers early in spring in LDs before the onset of summer droughts (139). By contrast, barley cultivars grown at higher latitudes, including northern Europe, display loss-of-function *ppd-H1* alleles and show a reduced response to LDs, extending the growth period and the yield potential.

Rice originates from subtropical regions, and its adaptation for growth in higher latitudes selected for reduced photoperiod sensitivity. Loss-of-function mutations in LD-specific floral repressors, including *Gbd7*, *DTH8*, and *Hd1*, correlate with northward expansion (147, 152, 154). Similarly, the natural variation of floral activators, including *DTH2* and *Ebd4*, contributes to adaptation to high latitudes (38, 150). In the planting areas of origin, reduced photoperiod sensitivity allows more than one round of planting. Now research has moved its focus to accelerating latitudinal movement to preempt the effects of climate change. To speed up the traditional breeding program for rice varieties optimally suited for the corresponding latitude and to readjust the heading date, Qui et al. (112) have developed a daylength-based environmental adaptation simulator, inferring latitudinal adaptation based on florigen expression. In a large-scale experiment, rice plants were exposed to simulated changes in daylength in growth chambers and *Hd3a* and *RFT1* levels were monitored. The dynamics of *Hd3a* and *RFT1* expression in the natural daylength at a particular latitude could be inferred, and thus heading behavior can be predicted. Importantly, additional incorporation of fluctuating temperatures may further increase the predictive power.

We suggest that basic understanding of photoperiod measurement systems will be critical for reactive and proactive strategies to combat the climate disaster. This should be combined with gaining more knowledge of the genetic history associated with domestication across latitudes to design engineering strategies for breeding crops for the future. In particular, manipulating components of the circadian clock may provide a means to delay the phases of clock-controlled processes, including variation of the responsiveness to biotic and abiotic threats throughout the day, to match longer days when a species moves northward.

7. CONCLUSIONS AND OUTLOOK

Plant species continue to serve as the vanguard for understanding photoperiodism. There is no other system with a more complete molecular model of a timekeeping mechanism than the CO/FT regulon. This puts the field in a unique place in which engineering strategies become feasible. There is one area that needs to be investigated more deeply—the interactions between photoperiodic flowering and other environmental cues. For example, measuring flowering time in Arabidopsis under ecologically realistic conditions revealed that major genes underpinning flowering time in controlled growth chamber experiments were not associated with flowering time in the field. Instead, genes involved in the regulation of the circadian clock correlated with flowering time (10). More recently, in addition to the FT peak at the end of the day in spring, field studies unearthed a second FT peak in the morning, which is not found under laboratory conditions (127). Adjusting the red/far-red ratio and the daily temperature in growth chambers to the situation found in the field is sufficient to reproduce natural flowering time and FT expression, enforcing the importance of seasonal changes in temperature as a critical factor.

It is also clear that the genomics revolution is a powerful component of the photoperiod research field. We recommend considering among best practices in experimental design the acquisition of high temporal resolution over at least one day, preferably with multiple replicates for each day. This allows for temporally unbiased assessment of the genes that have phase or amplitude changes in the different photoperiods. This will allow us to construct similar types of expression cascades, as established for the CO/FT regulon (**Figure 5**), with other noncanonical photoperiod-measuring systems.

The discovery of noncanonical photoperiod-measuring systems dispels the idea that the CO/FT regulon can account for the totality of photoperiodic changes in plants (**Figure 3**). The construction of tools and generation of transcriptomic and epigenomic data will facilitate the discovery of even more photoperiod-measuring systems. Until then, additional effort must be placed in understanding the molecular constituents of the MDLM and PIF systems as well.

It has also become clear that plants are distinguishing between absolute and metabolic daylengths (Figure 7). The CO/FT and PIF systems are measuring absolute daylength, while MDLM and the starch accumulation systems are measuring the photosynthetic period. This raises the interesting possibility that any type or quality of light that has seasonal variation may have associated photoperiod measurement systems in plants. Thus, it is helpful to categorize cellular processes by the type of photoperiod that is being measured and what timekeeping system is measuring the photoperiod to avoid confusion.

While it is clear that multiple steps in development are controlled by photoperiod, we have sparse knowledge of how this may work. Developing photoperiod-specific phenotypes to assay for various developmental steps will be a good first step for pursuing the photoperiod-measuring system that controls each process.

Finally, the efforts within the field have opened the door for us to engineer climate change– resistant plants, but one may want to ask if the plants can help us in return. Currently, synthetic carbon capture systems have not reached the level and efficiency of plant carbon capture. Because photoperiod has such a strong effect on carbon capture, storage, and usage in plants, we may possibly be able to manipulate photoperiod measurement systems in plants to engineer increased carbon capture in crops.

SUMMARY POINTS

- Classical models have implicated an endogenous rhythm of light sensitivity as the basis of photoperiodic flowering-time control, according to the coincidence of ambient light with either a light- or dark-sensitive phase of this rhythm.
- 2. Molecular genetic studies in *Arabidopsis* were the first to show that CONSTANS (CO) represents the key factor mediating photoperiodic flowering-time control by activating the florigen *FLOWERING LOCUS T (FT)*. The CO/FT regulon provides a framework

with features of both the external and internal coincidence mechanism. The CO/FT regulon also functions in photoperiodic timekeeping in short-day plants where the activity of CO-like proteins is regulated oppositely.

- 3. Photoperiodic responses in natural settings with a plethora of environmental factors that vary throughout the seasons differ from photoperiodic responses observed in growth chambers with controlled conditions. In particular, temperature fluctuations appear to have a decisive effect.
- 4. Photoperiod transcriptome studies reveal gene expression cascades associated with photoperiodic flowering. Additionally, they help identify new molecular mechanisms, show there are likely more photoperiod timekeepers in plants, and reveal the many cellular and physiological processes being regulated by photoperiod.
- 5. Not all photoperiodic responses can be explained by the CO/FT regulon. The phytochrome-interacting factor (PIF) and metabolic daylength measurement (MDLM) photoperiod-measuring systems track daylength to control growth.
- 6. Plants can measure absolute photoperiod to control flowering and photosynthetic period to control starch accumulation, the MDLM system, and growth.
- 7. Many steps in plant development are controlled by photoperiod, but little is known about the regulons that control these processes.
- 8. Studying genetic modifications associated with domestication can help guide our actions to ameliorate the effects of climate change.

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Alexander Steffen for critical reading of the manuscript. We apologize to our colleagues whose work could not be mentioned due to space limitations. We acknowledge funding of our research by the National Institutes of Health (R35 GM128670) and National Science Foundation (IOS-1856452) to J.M.G. and by the German Research Foundation (DFG) through STA653/13, STA653/14, STA653/15, and STA653/19.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Abe M, Kobayashi Y, Yamamoto S, Daimon Y, Yamaguchi A, et al. 2005. FD, a bZIP protein mediating signals from the floral pathway integrator FT at the shoot apex. *Science* 309:1052–56
- Alabadi D, Oyama T, Yanovsky MJ, Harmon FG, Mas P, Kay SA. 2001. Reciprocal regulation between TOC1 and LHY/CCA1 within the Arabidopsis circadian clock. Science 293:880–83
- Alexandre Moraes T, Mengin V, Peixoto B, Encke B, Krohn N, et al. 2022. The circadian clock mutant *lby cca1 elf3* paces starch mobilization to dawn despite severely disrupted circadian clock function. *Plant Physiol.* 189:2332–56
- 4. Andrés F, Coupland G. 2012. The genetic basis of flowering responses to seasonal cues. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 13:627–39
- 5. Baerenfaller K, Massonnet C, Hennig L, Russenberger D, Sulpice R, et al. 2015. A long photoperiod relaxes energy management in *Arabidopsis* leaf six. *Curr. Plant Biol.* 2:34–45

- Bauerle WL, Oren R, Way DA, Qian SS, Stoy PC, et al. 2012. Photoperiodic regulation of the seasonal pattern of photosynthetic capacity and the implications for carbon cycling. *PNAS* 109:8612–17
- Bernier G, Havelange A, Houssa C, Petitjean A, Lejeune P. 1993. Physiological signals that induce flowering. *Plant Cell* 5:1147–55
- Black M, Wareing PF. 1954. Photoperiodic control of germination in seed of birch (*Betula pubescens* Ehrh.). Nature 174:705–6
- 9. Bocobza SE, Malitsky S, Araújo WL, Nunes-Nesi A, Meir S, et al. 2013. Orchestration of thiamin biosynthesis and central metabolism by combined action of the thiamin pyrophosphate riboswitch and the circadian clock in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell* 25:288–307
- Brachi B, Faure N, Horton M, Flahauw E, Vazquez A, et al. 2010. Linkage and association mapping of Arabidopsis thaliana flowering time in nature. PLOS Genet. 6:e1000940
- Brulfert J, Guerrier D, Queiroz O. 1982. Photoperiodism and Crassulacean acid metabolism: II. Relations between leaf aging and photoperiod in Crassulacean acid metabolism induction. *Planta* 154:332–38
- Brulfert J, Müller D, Kluge M, Queiroz O. 1982. Photoperiodism and Crassulacean acid metabolism: I. Immunological and kinetic evidences for different patterns of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase isoforms in photoperiodically inducible and non-inducible Crassulacean acid metabolism plants. *Planta* 154:326–31
- 13. Brulfert J, Queiroz O. 1982. Photoperiodism and Crassulacean acid metabolism: III. Different characteristics of the photoperiod-sensitive and non-sensitive isoforms of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase and Crassulacean acid metabolism operation. *Planta* 154:339–43
- 14. Bünning E. 1936. Die endogene Tagesrhythmik als Grundlage der photoperiodischen Reaktion. Ber. Dtsch. Bot. Ges. 54:590–607
- 15. Campoli C, Shtaya M, Davis SJ, von Korff M. 2012. Expression conservation within the circadian clock of a monocot: natural variation at barley *Ppd-H1* affects circadian expression of flowering time genes, but not clock orthologs. *BMC Plant Biol.* 12:97
- Caspar T, Huber SC, Somerville C. 1985. Alterations in growth, photosynthesis, and respiration in a starchless mutant of *Arabidopsis thaliana* (L.) deficient in chloroplast phosphoglucomutase activity 1. *Plant Physiol.* 79:11–17
- Chailakhyan MK. 1936. New facts in support of the hormonal theory of plant development. C. R. Acad. Sci. URSS 13:79–83
- 18. Chapman MA. 2022. Putting the pea in photoPEAriod. J. Exp. Bot. 73:3825-27
- Chatterton NJ, Silvius JE. 1979. Photosynthate partitioning into starch in soybean leaves: I. Effects of photoperiod versus photosynthetic period duration. *Plant Physiol.* 64:749–53
- Chatterton NJ, Silvius JE. 1980. Acclimation of photosynthate partitioning and photosynthetic rates to changes in length of the daily photosynthetic period. *Ann. Bot.* 46:739–45
- Chatterton NJ, Silvius JE. 1981. Photosynthate partitioning into starch in soybean leaves: II. Irradiance level and daily photosynthetic period duration effects. *Plant Physiol.* 67:257–60
- Chen A, Li C, Hu W, Lau MY, Lin H, et al. 2014. PHYTOCHROME C plays a major role in the acceleration of wheat flowering under long-day photoperiod. PNAS 111:10037–44
- 23. Chen I-C, Hill JK, Ohlemüller R, Roy DB, Thomas CD. 2011. Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. *Science* 333:1024–26
- 24. Cookson SJ, Chenu K, Granier C. 2007. Day length affects the dynamics of leaf expansion and cellular development in *Arabidopsis thaliana* partially through floral transition timing. *Ann. Bot.* 99:703–11
- 25. Corbesier L, Vincent C, Jang S, Fornara F, Fan Q, et al. 2007. FT protein movement contributes to long-distance signaling in floral induction of *Arabidopsis*. *Science* 316:1030–33
- 26. Covington MF, Maloof JN, Straume M, Kay SA, Harmer SL. 2008. Global transcriptome analysis reveals circadian regulation of key pathways in plant growth and development. *Genome Biol.* 9:R130
- 27. Díaz-Riquelme J, Grimplet J, Martínez-Zapater JM, Carmona MJ. 2012. Transcriptome variation along bud development in grapevine (*Vitis vinifera* L.). *BMC Plant Biol.* 12:181
- Dodd AN, Salathia N, Hall A, Kevei E, Toth R, et al. 2005. Plant circadian clocks increase photosynthesis, growth, survival, and competitive advantage. *Science* 309:630–33

14. The first connection between the circadian clock and photoperiod measurement.

19. Plants measure photosynthetic period to control photosynthate partitioning.

25. Demonstration that FT itself is the mobile florigen.

www.annualreviews.org • New Horizons in Plant Photoperiodism 503

- Doi K, Izawa T, Fuse T, Yamanouchi U, Kubo T, et al. 2004. *Ebd1*, a B-type response regulator in rice, confers short-day promotion of flowering and controls *FT-like* gene expression independently of *Hd1*. *Genes Dev.* 18:926–36
- Duplat-Bermúdez L, Ruiz-Medrano R, Landsman D, Mariño-Ramírez L, Xoconostle-Cázares B. 2016. Transcriptomic analysis of *Arabidopsis* overexpressing flowering locus T driven by a meristem-specific promoter that induces early flowering. *Gene* 587:120–31
- Exposito-Alonso M, 500 Genomes Field Exp. Team, Burbano HA, Bossdorf O, Nielsen R, Weigel D. 2019. Natural selection on the *Arabidopsis thaliana* genome in present and future climates. *Nature* 573:126–29
- 32. Fankhauser C, Staiger D. 2002. Photoreceptors in *Arabidopsis thaliana*: light perception, signal transduction and entrainment of the endogenous clock. *Planta* 216:1–16
- Fernandez O, Ishihara H, George GM, Mengin V, Flis A, et al. 2017. Leaf starch turnover occurs in long days and in falling light at the end of the day. *Plant Physiol*. 174:2199–212
- Fichtner F, Lunn JE. 2021. The role of trehalose 6-phosphate (Tre6P) in plant metabolism and development. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 72:737–60
- Figueroa CM, Lunn JE. 2016. A tale of two sugars: trehalose 6-phosphate and sucrose. *Plant Physiol.* 172:7–27
- Flis A, Mengin V, Ivakov AA, Mugford ST, Hubberten H-M, et al. 2019. Multiple circadian clock outputs regulate diel turnover of carbon and nitrogen reserves. *Plant Cell Environ*. 42:549–73
- Flis A, Sulpice R, Seaton DD, Ivakov AA, Liput M, et al. 2016. Photoperiod-dependent changes in the phase of core clock transcripts and global transcriptional outputs at dawn and dusk in *Arabidopsis. Plant Cell Environ.* 39:1955–81
- Gao H, Zheng X-M, Fei G, Chen J, Jin M, et al. 2013. *Ebd4* encodes a novel and *Oryza*-genus-specific regulator of photoperiodic flowering in rice. *PLOS Genetics* 9:e1003281
- Gao M, Geng F, Klose C, Staudt A-M, Huang H, et al. 2019. Phytochromes measure photoperiod in Brachypodium. bioRxiv 697169. https://doi.org/10.1101/697169
- 40. Garner WW, Allard HA. 1920. Effect of the relative length of day and night and other factors of the environment on growth and reproduction in plants. *7. Agric. Res.* 18:553–606
- Gendron JM, Leung CC, Liu W. 2021. Energy as a seasonal signal for growth and reproduction. *Curr*: Opin. Plant Biol. 63:102092
- 42. Gibon Y, Pyl E-T, Sulpice R, Lunn JE, Höhne M, et al. 2009. Adjustment of growth, starch turnover, protein content and central metabolism to a decrease of the carbon supply when *Arabidopsis* is grown in very short photoperiods. *Plant Cell Environ*. 32:859–74
- Gnesutta N, Kumimoto RW, Swain S, Chiara M, Siriwardana C, et al. 2017. CONSTANS imparts DNA sequence specificity to the histone fold NF-YB/NF-YC dimer. *Plant Cell* 29:1516–32
- Graf A, Schlereth A, Stitt M, Smith AM. 2010. Circadian control of carbohydrate availability for growth in *Arabidopsis* plants at night. *PNAS* 107:9458–63
- 45. Hamner KC, Takimoto A. 1964. Circadian rhythms and plant photoperiodism. Am. Nat. 98:295-322
- 46. Harmer SL. 2009. The circadian system in higher plants. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 60:357-77
- 47. Harmer SL, Hogenesch JB, Straume M, Chang H-S, Han B, et al. 2000. Orchestrated transcription of key pathways in *Arabidopsis* by the circadian clock. *Science* 290:2110–13
- Hayama R, Agashe B, Luley E, King R, Coupland G. 2007. A circadian rhythm set by dusk determines the expression of *FT* homologs and the short-day photoperiodic flowering response in Pharbitis. *Plant Cell* 19:2988–3000
- Hayama R, Yokoi S, Tamaki S, Yano M, Shimamoto K. 2003. Adaptation of photoperiodic control pathways produces short-day flowering in rice. *Nature* 422:719–22
- Heintzen C, Fischer R, Melzer S, Kappeler S, Apel K, Staiger D. 1994. Circadian oscillations of a transcript encoding a germin-like protein that is associated with cell walls in young leaves of the long-day plant *Sinapis alba* L. *Plant Physiol.* 106:905–15
- Heintzen C, Melzer S, Fischer R, Kappeler S, Apel K, Staiger D. 1994. A light- and temperatureentrained circadian clock controls expression of transcripts encoding nuclear proteins with homology to RNA-binding proteins in meristematic tissue. *Plant J.* 5:799–813

40. Demonstration that plants measure photoperiod to control development.

- 52. Hernando CE, Romanowski A, Yanovsky MJ. 2017. Transcriptional and post-transcriptional control of the plant circadian gene regulatory network. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Gene Regul. Mech.* 1860:84–94
- 53. Huffeldt NP. 2020. Photic barriers to poleward range-shifts. Trends Ecol. Evol. 35:652-55
- Huffeldt NP. 2021. Importance of photic constraints depends on the population. Trends Ecol. Evol. 36:480–81
- Imaizumi T, Auge G, Donohue K. 2017. Photoperiod throughout the maternal life cycle, not photoperiod during seed imbibition, influences germination in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Am. J. Bot. 104:516–26
- Imaizumi T, Schultz TF, Harmon FG, Ho LA, Kay SA. 2005. FKF1 F-box protein mediates cyclic degradation of a repressor of CONSTANS in Arabidopsis. Science 309:293–97
- 57. Ito T, Nishio H, Tarutani Y, Emura N, Honjo MN, et al. 2019. Seasonal stability and dynamics of DNA methylation in plants in a natural environment. *Genes* 10:544
- Itoh H, Nonoue Y, Yano M, Izawa T. 2010. A pair of floral regulators sets critical day length for *Hd3a* florigen expression in rice. *Nat. Genet.* 42:635–38
- 59. Izawa T, Oikawa T, Sugiyama N, Tanisaka T, Yano M, Shimamoto K. 2002. Phytochrome mediates the external light signal to repress *FT* orthologs in photoperiodic flowering of rice. *Genes Dev.* 16:2006–20
- Izumi M, Hidema J, Makino A, Ishida H. 2013. Autophagy contributes to nighttime energy availability for growth in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* 161:1682–93
- 61. Jaeger KE, Wigge PA. 2007. FT protein acts as a long-range signal in Arabidopsis. Curr. Biol. 17:1050-54
- Jung C, Pillen K, Staiger D, Coupland G, von Korff M. 2016. Recent advances in flowering time control. Front. Plant Sci. 7:2011
- 63. Kicia M, Gola EM, Janska H. 2010. Mitochondrial protease AtFtsH4 protects ageing Arabidopsis rosettes against oxidative damage under short-day photoperiod. *Plant Signal. Bebav.* 5:126–28
- 64. Kim H, Kim Y, Yeom M, Lim J, Nam HG. 2016. Age-associated circadian period changes in Arabidopsis leaves. J. Exp. Bot. 67:2665–73
- Kippes N, VanGessel C, Hamilton J, Akpinar A, Budak H, et al. 2020. Effect of *pbyB* and *pbyC* loss-offunction mutations on the wheat transcriptome under short and long day photoperiods. *BMC Plant Biol.* 20:297
- 66. Klepikova AV, Logacheva MD, Dmitriev SE, Penin AA. 2015. RNA-seq analysis of an apical meristem time series reveals a critical point in *Arabidopsis thaliana* flower initiation. *BMC Genom.* 16:466
- Kojima S, Takahashi Y, Kobayashi Y, Monna L, Sasaki T, et al. 2002. *Hd3a*, a rice ortholog of the *Arabidopsis FT* gene, promotes transition to flowering downstream of *Hd1* under short-day conditions. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 43:1096–105
- Koller D, Mayer AM, Poljakoff-Mayber A, Klein S. 1962. Seed germination. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 13:437–64
- 69. Komiya R, Ikegami A, Tamaki S, Yokoi S, Shimamoto K. 2008. *Hd3a* and *RFT1* are essential for flowering in rice. *Development* 135:767–74
- Laubinger S, Marchal V, Gentilhomme J, Wenkel S, Adrian J, et al. 2006. *Arabidopsis* SPA proteins regulate photoperiodic flowering and interact with the floral inducer CONSTANS to regulate its stability. *Development* 133:3213–22
- Lemmer B. 2009. Discoveries of rhythms in human biological functions: a historical review. *Chronobiol.* Int. 26:1019–68
- Lepistö A, Kangasjärvi S, Luomala E-M, Brader G, Sipari N, et al. 2009. Chloroplast NADPHthioredoxin reductase interacts with photoperiodic development in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* 149:1261–76
- Lepistö A, Pakula E, Toivola J, Krieger-Liszkay A, Vignols F, Rintamäki E. 2013. Deletion of chloroplast NADPH-dependent thioredoxin reductase results in inability to regulate starch synthesis and causes stunted growth under short-day photoperiods. *J. Exp. Bot.* 64:3843–54
- Leung CC, Tarté DA, Oliver LS, Gendron JM. 2022. Diverse photoperiodic gene expression patterns are likely mediated by distinct transcriptional systems in Arabidopsis. bioRxiv 2022.10.05.510993. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.10.05.510993
- 75. Li M-W, Liu W, Lam H-M, Gendron JM. 2018. Characterization of two growth period QTLs reveals modification of *PRR3* genes during soybean domestication. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 60:407–20

76. Identification of the metabolic daylength measurement system for short-day gene expression and fitness in *Arabidopsis*.

83. This work demonstrated that the FT protein could be exported from companion cells to induce flowering.

- 76. Liu W, Feke A, Leung CC, Tarté DA, Yuan W, et al. 2021. A metabolic daylength measurement system mediates winter photoperiodism in plants. *Dev. Cell* 56:2501–15.e5
- Lu Y, Gehan JP, Sharkey TD. 2005. Daylength and circadian effects on starch degradation and maltose metabolism. *Plant Physiol.* 138:2280–91
- Luccioni L, Krzymuski M, Sánchez-Lamas M, Karayekov E, Cerdán PD, Casal JJ. 2019. CONSTANS delays Arabidopsis flowering under short days. *Plant J*. 97:923–32
- Lumsden PJ, Furuya M. 1986. Evidence for two actions of light in the photoperiodic induction of flowering in *Pharbitis nil. Plant Cell Physiol.* 27:1541–51
- Manechini JRV, Santos PHdSS, Romanel E, Brito MDS, Scarpari MdS, et al. 2021. Transcriptomic analysis of changes in gene expression during flowering induction in sugarcane under controlled photoperiodic conditions. *Front. Plant Sci.* 12:635784
- Martín G, Rovira A, Veciana N, Soy J, Toledo-Ortiz G, et al. 2018. Circadian waves of transcriptional repression shape PIF-regulated photoperiod-responsive growth in *Arabidopsis. Curr. Biol.* 28:311–18:65
- Martín G, Veciana N, Boix M, Rovira A, Henriques R, Monte E. 2020. The photoperiodic response of hypocotyl elongation involves regulation of CDF1 and CDF5 activity. *Physiol. Plant.* 169:480–90
- 83. Mathieu J, Warthmann N, Kuttner F, Schmid M. 2007. Export of FT protein from phloem companion cells is sufficient for floral induction in *Arabidopsis. Curr. Biol.* 17:1055–60
- Maurya JP, Miskolczi PC, Mishra S, Singh RK, Bhalerao RP. 2020. A genetic framework for regulation and seasonal adaptation of shoot architecture in hybrid aspen. *PNAS* 117:11523–30
- 85. McClung CR. 2019. The plant circadian oscillator. Biology 8:14
- McClung CR. 2021. Circadian clock components offer targets for crop domestication and improvement. Genes 12:374
- 87. McWatters HG, Bastow RM, Hall A, Millar AJ. 2000. The *ELF3 zeitnehmer* regulates light signalling to the circadian clock. *Nature* 408:716–20
- Melzer S, Majewski DM, Apel K. 1990. Early changes in gene expression during the transition from vegetative to generative growth in the long-day plant *Sinapis alba*. *Plant Cell* 2:953–61
- 89. Mengin V, Pyl E-T, Alexandre Moraes T, Sulpice R, Krohn N, et al. 2017. Photosynthate partitioning to starch in *Arabidopsis thaliana* is insensitive to light intensity but sensitive to photoperiod due to a restriction on growth in the light in short photoperiods. *Plant Cell Environ*. 40:2608–27
- Michael TP, Breton G, Hazen SP, Priest H, Mockler TC, et al. 2008. A morning-specific phytohormone gene expression program underlying rhythmic plant growth. *PLOS Biol.* 6:e225
- 91. Millar AJ, Straume M, Chory J, Chua NH, Kay SA. 1995. The regulation of circadian period by phototransduction pathways in *Arabidopsis. Science* 267:1163–66
- Mockler TC, Michael TP, Priest HD, Shen R, Sullivan CM, et al. 2007. The Diurnal Project: diurnal and circadian expression profiling, model-based pattern matching, and promoter analysis. *Cold Spring Harbor: Symp. Quant. Biol.* 72:353–63
- Moraes TA, Mengin V, Annunziata MG, Encke B, Krohn N, et al. 2019. Response of the circadian clock and Diel starch turnover to one day of low light or low CO₂. *Plant Physiol*. 179:1457–78
- Mugford ST, Fernandez O, Brinton J, Flis A, Krohn N, et al. 2014. Regulatory properties of ADP glucose pyrophosphorylase are required for adjustment of leaf starch synthesis in different photoperiods. *Plant Physiol.* 166:1733–47
- 95. Müller NA, Wijnen CL, Srinivasan A, Ryngajllo M, Ofner I, et al. 2016. Domestication selected for deceleration of the circadian clock in cultivated tomato. *Nat. Genet.* 48:89–93
- 96. Nagano AJ, Kawagoe T, Sugisaka J, Honjo MN, Iwayama K, Kudoh H. 2019. Annual transcriptome dynamics in natural environments reveals plant seasonal adaptation. *Nat. Plants* 5:74–83
- Nanda KK, Hamner KC. 1958. Studies on the nature of the endogenous rhythm affecting photoperiodic response of Biloxi soybean. *Bot. Gaz.* 120:14–25
- Nathan R, Horvitz N, He Y, Kuparinen A, Schurr FM, Katul GG. 2011. Spread of North American wind-dispersed trees in future environments. *Ecol. Lett.* 14:211–19
- Navarro C, Abelenda JA, Cruz-Oró E, Cuéllar CA, Tamaki S, et al. 2011. Control of flowering and storage organ formation in potato by FLOWERING LOCUS T. *Nature* 478:119–22
- Nishida H, Ishihara D, Ishii M, Kaneko T, Kawahigashi H, et al. 2013. Phytochrome C is a key factor controlling long-day flowering in barley. *Plant Physiol.* 163:804–14

- 101. Niwa Y, Yamashino T, Mizuno T. 2009. Circadian clock regulates photoperiodic response of hypocotyl elongation through a coincidence mechanism in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Cell Physiol*. 50:838–54
- 102. Nozue K, Covington MF, Duek PD, Lorrain S, Fankhauser C, et al. 2007. Rhythmic growth explained by coincidence between internal and external cues. *Nature* 448:358–63
- Nunes MV, Saunders D. 1999. Photoperiodic time measurement in insects: a review of clock models. *J. Biol. Rhythms* 14:84–104
- Osugi A, Itoh H, Ikeda-Kawakatsu K, Takano M, Izawa T. 2011. Molecular dissection of the roles of phytochrome in photoperiodic flowering in rice. *Plant Physiol*. 157:1128–37
- 105. Pal SK, Liput M, Piques M, Ishihara H, Obata T, et al. 2013. Diurnal changes of polysome loading track sucrose content in the rosette of wild-type Arabidopsis and the starchless *pgm* mutant. *Plant Physiol*. 162:1246–65
- 106. Pankin A, Campoli C, Dong X, Kilian B, Sharma R, et al. 2014. Mapping-by-sequencing identifies *HvPHYTOCHROME C* as a candidate gene for the *early maturity 5* locus modulating the circadian clock and photoperiodic flowering in barley. *Genetics* 198:383–96
- 107. Pearce S, Kippes N, Chen A, Debernardi JM, Dubcovsky J. 2016. RNA-seq studies using wheat *PHYTOCHROME B* and *PHYTOCHROME C* mutants reveal shared and specific functions in the regulation of flowering and shade-avoidance pathways. *BMC Plant Biol.* 16:141
- Pittendrigh CS. 1972. Circadian surfaces and the diversity of possible roles of circadian organization in photoperiodic induction. PNAS 69:2734–37
- Pittendrigh CS, Minis DH. 1964. The entrainment of circadian oscillations by light and their role as photoperiodic clocks. *Am. Nat.* 98:261–94
- Plantenga FDM, Heuvelink E, Rienstra JA, Visser RGF, Bachem CWB, Marcelis LFM. 2019. Coincidence of potato CONSTANS (StCOL1) expression and light cannot explain night-break repression of tuberization. Physiol. Plant. 167:250–63
- 111. Putterill J, Robson F, Lee K, Simon R, Coupland G. 1995. The *CONSTANS* gene of Arabidopsis promotes flowering and encodes a protein showing similarities to zinc finger transcription factors. *Cell* 80:847–57
- 112. Qiu L, Wu Q, Wang X, Han J, Zhuang G, et al. 2021. Forecasting rice latitude adaptation through a daylength-sensing-based environment adaptation simulator. *Nat. Food* 2:348–62
- Rensing L, Meyer-Grahle U, Ruoff P. 2001. Biological timing and the clock metaphor: oscillatory and hourglass mechanisms. *Chronobiol. Int.* 18:329–69
- 114. Rosado-Souza L, Proost S, Moulin M, Bergmann S, Bocobza SE, et al. 2019. Appropriate thiamin pyrophosphate levels are required for acclimation to changes in photoperiod. *Plant Physiol.* 180:185–97
- Ruttink T, Arend M, Morreel K, Storme V, Rombauts S, et al. 2007. A molecular timetable for apical bud formation and dormancy induction in poplar. *Plant Cell* 19:2370–90
- 116. Saikkonen K, Taulavuori K, Hyvönen T, Gundel PE, Hamilton CE, et al. 2012. Climate change-driven species' range shifts filtered by photoperiodism. *Nat. Clim. Change* 2:239–42
- 117. Saji H, Furuya M, Takimoto A. 1984. Role of the photoperiod preceding a flower-inductive dark period in dark-grown seedlings of *Pharbitis nil* Choisy. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 25:715–20
- 118. Salazar JD, Saithong T, Brown PE, Foreman J, Locke JC, et al. 2009. Prediction of photoperiodic regulators from quantitative gene circuit models. *Cell* 139:1170–79
- 119. Samach A, Onouchi H, Gold SE, Ditta GS, Schwarz-Sommer Z, et al. 2000. Distinct roles of CONSTANS target genes in reproductive development of *Arabidopsis. Science* 288:1613–36
- 120. Sapey E, Jiang B, Liu L, Yuan S, Wu T, et al. 2022. Transcriptome profile of a long-juvenile soybean genotype Huaxia-3 under short and long photoperiod. *Plant Mol. Biol. Rep.* 40:433–45
- 121. Sawa M, Nusinow DA, Kay SA, Imaizumi T. 2007. FKF1 and GIGANTEA complex formation is required for day-length measurement in *Arabidopsis. Science* 318:261–65
- 122. Schaffer R, Ramsay N, Samach A, Putterill J, Carre IA, Coupland G. 1998. The late elongated hypocotyl mutation of *Arabidopsis* disrupts circadian rhythms and the photoperiodic control of flowering. *Cell* 93:1219–29
- 123. Seaton DD, Graf A, Baerenfaller K, Stitt M, Millar AJ, Gruissem W. 2018. Photoperiodic control of the *Arabidopsis* proteome reveals a translational coincidence mechanism. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 14:e7962

102. Demonstration that the PIF proteins are part of a coincidence mechanism that controls hypocotyl growth.

111. The identification and cloning of the *CONSTANS* gene in *Arabidopsis*.

- 124. Settele J, Bishop J, Potts SG. 2016. Climate change impacts on pollination. Nat. Plants 2:16092
- Smith AM, Zeeman SC. 2020. Starch: a flexible, adaptable carbon store coupled to plant growth. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 71:217–45
- Somers DE, Schultz TF, Milnamow M, Kay SA. 2000. ZEITLUPE encodes a novel clock-associated PAS protein from Arabidopsis. Cell 101:319–29
- 127. Song YH, Kubota A, Kwon MS, Covington MF, Lee N, et al. 2018. Molecular basis of flowering under natural long-day conditions in *Arabidopsis*. Nat. Plants 4:824–35
- Staiger D. 2001. RNA-binding proteins and circadian rhythms in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Philo. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B.* 356:1755–59
- 129. Staiger D, Shin J, Johansson M, Davis SJ. 2013. The circadian clock goes genomic. Genome Biol. 14:208
- 130. Suárez-López P, Wheatley K, Robson F, Onouchi H, Valverde F, Coupland G. 2001. CONSTANS mediates between the circadian clock and the control of flowering in Arabidopsis. Nature 410:1116–20
- 131. Sulpice R, Flis A, Ivakov AA, Apelt F, Krohn N, et al. 2014. *Arabidopsis* coordinates the diurnal regulation of carbon allocation and growth across a wide range of photoperiods. *Mol. Plant* 7:137–55
- 132. Takimoto A, Ikeda K. 1961. Effect of twilight on photoperiodic induction in some short day plants. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 2:213–29
- 133. Tarancon C, Gonzalez-Grandio E, Oliveros JC, Nicolas M, Cubas P. 2017. A conserved carbon starvation response underlies bud dormancy in woody and herbaceous species. *Front. Plant Sci.* 8:788
- 134. Thomas B, Vince-Prue D. 1997. Photoperiodism in Plants. London: Academic
- Thomson G, Taylor J, Putterill J. 2019. The transcriptomic response to a short day to long day shift in leaves of the reference legume *Medicago truncatula*. *PeerJ* 7:e6626
- 136. Tian H, Li Y, Wang C, Xu X, Zhang Y, et al. 2021. Photoperiod-responsive changes in chromatin accessibility in phloem companion and epidermis cells of Arabidopsis leaves. *Plant Cell* 33:475–91
- 137. Tougeron K. 2021. How constraining are photic barriers to poleward range-shifts? *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 36:478–79
- 138. Tournois J. 2014. Études sur la sexualite du houblon. Ann. Sci. Nat. 19:49-189
- 139. Turner A, Beales J, Faure S, Dunford RP, Laurie DA. 2005. The pseudo-response regulator Ppd-H1 provides adaptation to photoperiod in barley. *Science* 310:1031–34
- Tylewicz S, Petterle A, Marttila S, Miskolczi P, Azeez A, et al. 2018. Photoperiodic control of seasonal growth is mediated by ABA acting on cell-cell communication. *Science* 360:212–15
- 141. Valverde F, Mouradov A, Soppe W, Ravenscroft D, Samach A, Coupland G. 2004. Photoreceptor regulation of CONSTANS protein in photoperiodic flowering. *Science* 303:1003–6
- 142. Vince-Prue D. 1994. The duration of light and photoperiodic responses. In *Photomorphogenesis in Plants*, ed. RE Kendrick, GHM Kronenberg, pp. 447–90. Dordrecht, Neth.: Springer
- 143. Wahl V, Ponnu J, Schlereth A, Arrivault S, Langenecker T, et al. 2013. Regulation of flowering by trehalose-6-phosphate signaling in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Science* 339:704–7
- 144. Walther G-R, Roques A, Hulme PE, Sykes MT, Pyšek P, et al. 2009. Alien species in a warmer world: risks and opportunities. *Trends Ecol. Evol.* 24:686–93
- 145. Wang Q, Liu W, Leung CC, Tarte DA, Gendron J. 2023. Parallel mechanisms detect different photoperiods to independently control seasonal flowering and growth in plants. bioRxiv 2023.02.10.528016. https://doi.org/10.1101/2023.02.10.528016
- 146. Wang Z-Y, Tobin EM. 1998. Constitutive expression of the CIRCADIAN CLOCK ASSOCIATED1 (CCA1) gene disrupts circadian rhythms and suppresses its own expression. Cell 93:1207–17
- 147. Wei X, Xu J, Guo H, Jiang L, Chen S, et al. 2010. DTH8 suppresses flowering in rice, influencing plant height and yield potential simultaneously. Plant Physiol. 153:1747–58
- 148. Weng X, Lovell JT, Schwartz SL, Cheng C, Haque T, et al. 2019. Complex interactions between day length and diurnal patterns of gene expression drive photoperiodic responses in a perennial C₄ grass. *Plant Cell Environ.* 42:2165–82
- 149. Wigge PA, Kim MC, Jaeger KE, Busch W, Schmid M, et al. 2005. Integration of spatial and temporal information during floral induction in *Arabidopsis*. *Science* 309:1056–59
- 150. Wu W, Zheng X-M, Lu G, Zhong Z, Gao H, et al. 2013. Association of functional nucleotide polymorphisms at DTH2 with the northward expansion of rice cultivation in Asia. PNAS 110:2775–80

130. Discovery that CONSTANS is at the intersection of the circadian clock and flowering time.

- 151. Xiang Y, Sapir T, Rouillard P, Ferrand M, Jiménez-Gómez JM. 2022. Interaction between photoperiod and variation in circadian rhythms in tomato. *BMC Plant Biol.* 22:187
- 152. Xue W, Xing Y, Weng X, Zhao Y, Tang W, et al. 2008. Natural variation in *Gbd7* is an important regulator of heading date and yield potential in rice. *Nat. Genet.* 40:761–67
- 153. Yan J, Kim YJ, Somers DE. 2021. Post-translational mechanisms of plant circadian regulation. *Genes* 12:325
- 154. Yano M, Katayose Y, Ashikari M, Yamanouchi U, Monna L, et al. 2000. *Hd1*, a major photoperiod sensitivity quantitative trait locus in rice, is closely related to the Arabidopsis flowering time gene *CONSTANS. Plant Cell* 12:2473–84
- 155. Yanovsky MJ, Kay SA. 2002. Molecular basis of seasonal time measurement in *Arabidopsis*. *Nature* 419:308–12
- 156. Yu B, He X, Tang Y, Chen Z, Zhou L, et al. 2023. Photoperiod controls plant seed size in a *CONSTANS*dependent manner. *Nat. Plants* 9:343–54
- 157. Zhang B, Holmlund M, Lorrain S, Norberg M, Bakó L, et al. 2017. BLADE-ON-PETIOLE proteins act in an E3 ubiquitin ligase complex to regulate PHYTOCHROME INTERACTING FACTOR 4 abundance. *eLife* 6:e26759
- 158. Zhao Y, Zhao B, Xie Y, Jia H, Li Y, et al. 2022. The evening complex promotes maize flowering and adaptation to temperate regions. *Plant Cell* 35:369–89
- Zierer W, Rüscher D, Sonnewald U, Sonnewald S. 2021. Tuber and tuberous root development. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 72:551–80

155. Discovery that the circadian clock is a required component for CONSTANS photoperiod measurement.